Sahaviriya Steel Industries Public Company Limited, 

its subsidiaries and its jointly controlled entity
Notes to financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007
1.
General information
1.1
Corproate information


Sahaviriya Steel Industries Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distributor of hot rolled coils and its registered addresses consisted of its head office located at 28/1 Prapawit Building, 2nd - 3rd Floor, Surasak Road, Kwang Silom, Khet Bangrak, Bangkok and its plant located at 9 Moo 7, Ban Klang Na Yai Ploy Road, Tambon Mae Rumphueng, Amphur Bang Saphan, Prachuap KhiriKhan.


Since 2002, the government has introduced various measures to counteract dumping and subsidising of imported goods with the measures which are as follows:

a)
On 22 May 2003, the Committee on Dumping and Subsidies, Department of Foreign Trade, Ministry of Commerce, under Sections 7, 49, 51, 53, 57 and 73(1) of the Antidumping and Countervailing Act B.E. 2542, announced the Committee’s final judgment, dated 16 May 2003, that there had been dumping and damages as a result of dumping of coil and non-coil hot rolled steel originating from 14 countries, in accordance with Section 19(1) of the Antidumping and Countervailing Act B.E. 2542, and that thus antidumping duties were to be imposed with minimum and maximum rates of between 3.45 and 128.11 percent of CIF value, for a period of 5 years from 27 May 2003, except for hot rolled steel imported for re-export.

b)
On 11 July 2003, the Committee on Dumping and Subsidies, Department of Foreign Trade, Ministry of Commerce issued an announcement approving the exemption of coil and non-coil hot rolled steel imported for cold-rolling and further processing for downstream users from antidumping duties, and assigned the Department of Foreign Trade to monitor imports in accordance with pre-determined volumes for a period of 5 years from 21 July 2003 to 26 May 2008.

 
On 23 May 2008, the Committee on Dumping and Subsidies, Department of Foreign Trade, Ministry of Commerce, announced that it had begun a review of the necessity of extending the measures to counteract dumping for coil and non-coil hot rolled steel originating from 14 countries. The Committee is currently considering these matters.

1.2
Economic crisis 

The financial crisis experienced by the United States of America over the past year has had a far reaching adverse effect on the global economy as evidenced by sharp falls in share prices worldwide, a tight squeeze on credit including interbank lending, failures of large financial institutions and reduced consumer confidence. The crisis has substantially affected the business and financial plans of Thailand enterprises and asset value. Despite efforts made by governments of many countries to contain the crisis, it remains uncertain as to when the global economy will return to normalcy. These financial statements have been prepared on the bases of facts currently known to the Company, and on estimates and assumptions currently considered appropriate. However, they could be adversely affected by an array of future events.

2.
Basis of preparation
2.1
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards enunciated under the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 14 September 2001, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.



The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from such financial statements in Thai language.



The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.
2.2
Basis of consolidation

a)
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Sahaviriya Steel Industries Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiary companies (“the subsidiaries”):

	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	Country of
incorporation
	Percentage of
shareholding
	Assets as a percentage
to the consolidated
total assets as at
31 December
	Revenues as a
percentage to the
consolidated total
revenues for the year
ended 31 December

	
	
	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	
	percent
	percent
	percent
	percent
	percent
	percent

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	The provision of deep-sea port services and marine shipping services
	Thailand
	51.00
	51.00
	5.21
	6..33
	0.56
	0.51

	West Coast engineering Company Limited
	the provision of machinery and equipment maintenance services
	Thailand
	99.99
	99.99
	0.89
	1.00
	0.56
	0.47


b)
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated as from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

c)
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent significant accounting policies.

d)
Material balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiary companies have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. 

e) 
Investment in the subsidiary companies as recorded in the Company’s books of account are eliminated against the equity of the subsidiary companies.

f)
Minority interests represent the portion of net income or loss and net assets of the subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet. 

2.3 
The separate financial statements, which present investments in subsidiaries and joint controlled entity under the cost method, have been prepared solely for the benefit of the public.

3.
Adoption of new accounting standards 
3.1 Accounting standards which are effective for the current year

The Federation of Accounting Professions has issued Notification No. 9/2550, 38/2550 and 62/2550 mandating the use of new accounting standards as follows.

TAS 25 (revised 2007)
Cash Flow Statements

TAS 29 (revised 2007)
Leases

TAS 31 (revised 2007)
Inventories

TAS 33 (revised 2007)
Borrowing Costs

TAS 35 (revised 2007) 
Presentation of Financial Statements

TAS 39 (revised 2007)
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting


Estimates and Errors

TAS 41 (revised 2007) 
Interim Financial Reporting

TAS 43 (revised 2007) 
Business Combinations

TAS 49 (revised 2007) 
Construction Contracts


TAS 51
Intangible Assets

These accounting standards become effective for the financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The management has assessed the effect of these accounting standards and believes that TAS 49 (revised 2007) is not relevant to the business of the Company, whereas TAS 25 (revised 2007), TAS 29 (revised 2007), TAS 31 (revised 2007), TAS 33 (revised 2007), TAS 35 (revised 2007), TAS 39 (revised 2007), TAS 41 (revised 2007) and TAS 51 do not have any significant impact on the financial statements for the current period. 


The following accounting standard has an impact to the financial statements for the current period.
TAS 43 (revised 2007) “Business Combinations”


TAS 43 (revised 2007) specified that the acquirer must reappraise the stipulation and measurement of values of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and reappraise the cost of the business combination. If the interest of acquirer in the net fair value of the transaction is higher than cost at the acquisition date, the acquirer must recognise the excess amount after reappraisal in the income statement immediately. 

3.2
Accounting standards which are not effective for the current year

The Federation of Accounting Professions has also issued Notification No. 86/2551 mandating the use of the following new accounting standards.

TAS 36 (revised 2007)
Impairment of Assets

TAS 54 (revised 2007)
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

These accounting standards will become effective for the financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The management has assessed the effect of these accounting standards and believes that they will not have any significant impact on the financial statements for the year in which they are initially applied. 

4.
Change in accounting policy for recording raw material calculation method 


During the second quarter of this year, the Company changed its accounting policy on the method used for calculating the value of its steel slab raw material from the specific method to the weighted average method, in order to bring itself in line with the practices of other companies in the same industry. 


In this regard, the Company has restated the previous period's financial statements as though the method used for calculating the value of its steel slab raw material had originally been recorded using the weighted average method. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting policy has been presented under the heading of “Cumulative effect of the change in accounting policy for raw material calculation method” in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.


The effects of the change to the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007 and the income statements for the year ended 31 December 2007are as follows:

	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	financial statement
	financial statement

	Balance sheet as at 31 December 2007
	
	

	Decrease in inventories – net
	(34,616,623)
	(34,616,623)

	Decrease in retained earnings – upappropriated
	(34,616,623)
	(34,616,623)

	Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007

	Decrease in cost of sales
	(183,364,787)
	(183,364,787)

	Decrease in reversal of allowances for diminution
	
	

	   in value of raw material and finished goods
	262,798,321
	262,798,321

	Decrease in net income attributable to equity 
	
	

	   holders of the parent
	(79,433,534)
	(79,433,534)

	Decrease in basis earnings per share (Baht per share)
	(0.01)
	(0.01)


5.
Significant accounting policies
5.1
Revenue recognition


Sales of goods


Sales of goods are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer. Sales are the invoiced value, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after deducting discounts and allowances.

.
Rendering of services


Service revenue is recognised when services have been rendered taking into account the stage of completion. 


Dividends


Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established. 

5.2
Cash and cash equivalents


Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, cash at banks, and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.

5.3
Trade accounts receivable 


Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based on collection experience and analysis of debt aging. 


Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for those receivable balances over 6 months past due, at a rate of 100 percent.

5.4 Inventories 

Raw materials are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the weighted average method, and net realisable value.

Finished goods and rolls that are part of consumable goods are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the specific method, and net realisable value. Cost of finished goods includes all production costs and attributable factory overheads.


Other types of inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the weighted average method, and net realisable value.


Raw materials, spare parts and consumable goods are charged to production costs whenever consumed.

5.5
Investments 

a)
Investments in subsidiaries and joint controlled entity are accounted for in the separate financial statements using the cost method. 
b)
Investments in joint controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 

c)
Investments in non-marketable equity securities, which the Company classifies as other investments, are stated at cost net of allowance for loss on diminution in value (if any).


The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of investments. 

5.6
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation


Land is stated at revalued amount. Plant and equipment are stated at cost/revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).


Land, buildings and building improvement, machineries and equipment in production line, roads, berth and berth facilities, and tug boats are initially recorded at cost on the acquisition date, and subsequently revalued by an independent professional appraiser to their fair values. Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value at the balance sheet date.


Differences arising from the revaluation are dealt with in the financial statements as follows: 

-
When an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation of the Company’s assets, the increase is credited directly to equity under the heading of “Revaluation surplus on assets”. However, a revaluation increase will be recognised as income to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an expense.

-
When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation of the Company’s assets, the decrease is recognised as an expense in the income statement.  However, a revaluation decrease is to be charged directly against the related “Revaluation surplus on assets” to the extent that the decrease does not exceed the amount held in the “Revaluation surplus on assets” in respect of those same assets. Any excess amount is to be recognised as an expense in the income statement.
 
Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs or the revalued amounts on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives, except for machinery and equipment in the production line, which are depreciated based on estimated units of production:

Land improvement
-
5
years

Leasehold right for land
-
10
years

Leasehold improvement
-
5
years

Buildings
-
20
years


Machinery and equipment in production line

Hot rolled coil strip mill
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 55.8 million tons
The first shearing line
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 14.0 million tons
The second shearing line
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 8.3 million tons
The first skin pass mill
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 12.0 million tons
The second skin pass mill
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 14.0 million tons
The third skin pass mill
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 14.6 million tons
Pickling and oiling line
-
Estimated units of production at a total of 13.0 million tons
Spare parts
-
Estimated units of production of the main machine

Other machinery and factory equipment
-
5 - 10
years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
-
5

years

Motor vehicles
-
5

years

Roads
-
5, 20
years

Berth and berth facilities
-
5, 30
years

Tug boats
-
5 - 17
years

Customs cargo warehouse
-
5

years


The depreciation is dealt with in the financial statements as follows:  
-
Depreciation attributed to the original cost portion is included in determining income.

-
Depreciation attributed to the surplus portion is deducted against revaluation surplus on assets in shareholders’ equity.

 
No depreciation is provided on land and assets under construction/installation.

5.7
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

5.8
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition. Other acquired intangible assets are measured at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a systematic basis over the useful economic useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such intangible assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation expense is charged to the income statement.
The intangible assets-computer software has a finite useful life of 10 years.
Intangible assets arising from business combination with finite useful lives are as follow.

Customer relationships



- 8.25 years

Order backlog




- Based upon outstanding orders
5.9
Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, which is the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Company’s share in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the Company’s cash generating units (or group of cash-generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Company estimates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
5.10
Related party transactions

 
Related parties comprise enterprises and individuals that control, or are controlled by, the Company or its subsidiaries, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company or its subsidiaries.

 
They also include associated companies and individuals which directly or indirectly own a voting interest in the Company or its subsidiaries that gives them significant influence over the Company or its subsidiaries, key management personnel, directors and officers with authority in the planning and direction of the Company and its subsidiaries’ operations.

5.11 Long-term leases 


Leases of assets which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The outstanding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables, while the interest element is charged to the income statements over the lease period. Assets acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the useful life of the assets. 

 5.12
Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.
Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
5.13
Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Company and the subsidiaries perform impairment reviews in respect of the property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. The Company and the subsidiaries also carrie out annual impairment reviews in respect of goodwill. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount. In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available, reflects the amount that the Company and the subsidiaries could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. 
An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. However in cases where property, plant and equipment was previously revalued and the revaluation was taken to equity, a part of such impairment is recognised in equity up to the amount of the previous revaluation.

5.14
Employee benefits

 
Salary, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund and provident fund are recognised as expenses when incurred.

5.15
Provisions

 
Provisions are recognised when the Company and the subsidiaries have a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

5.16
Income tax


Income tax is provided in the accounts based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation. 
5.17
Derivatives

 
Forward exchange contracts

 
Receivables and payables arising from forward exchange contracts are translated into Baht at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Generally unrealised gains and losses from the translation are included in determining income. Premiums or discounts on forward exchange contracts are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contract periods.

 
Gains and losses from receivables and payables arising from not-for-trade forward exchange contracts performed for future highly probable incur transactions are not recorded in the income statement, and are instead recorded as part of the future underlying hedged transaction.

5.18
Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles at times requires management to make subjective judgments and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgments and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures and actual results could differ. Significant judgments and estimates are as follow:

Leases 
In determining whether a lease is to be classified as an operating lease or finance lease, the management is required to use judgment regarding whether significant risk and rewards of ownership of the leased asset has been transferred, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts

In determining an allowance for doubtful accounts, the management needs to make judgment and estimates based upon, among other things, past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the prevailing economic condition. 

Allowance for diminution in value of inventory

In determining allowance for diminution in the value of inventory, the management exercises judgment in estimating the net realisable value of inventory based on the amount the inventories are expected to realise. These estimates are based on estimates of selling prices, which take into account events occurring after the end of the period and estimates of related costs and expenses. 

Impairment of equity investments
The Company treats other investments as impaired when the management judgment that there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment.

Fair value of financial instruments

In determining the fair value of financial instruments that are not actively traded and for which quoted market prices are not readily available, the management exercise judgment, using a variety of valuation techniques and models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets, and includes consideration of liquidity, correlation and longer-term volatility of financial instruments.
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of the useful lives and salvage values of the Company and its subsidiaries’ plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and salvage values when there are any changes.
The Company and its subsidiaries measure land, buildings and building improvement, machineries and equipment in production line and roads at revalued amounts. Fair value from revaluation is determined by independent valuer using market approach for land and depreciated replacement cost approach for buildings and building improvement, machinery and equipment in production/service line, roads, berth and berth facilities, and tug boats. The valuation involves certain assumptions and estimates. 
In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a periodical basis and record impairment losses in the period when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower than the carrying cost. This requires judgments regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.

Goodwill and intangible assets

The initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets, and subsequent impairment testing, require management to make estimates of cash flows to be generated by the asset or the cash generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Litigation 

The Company and its subsidiaries have contingent loss and liabilities as a result of dispute and litigation. The Company and its subsidiaries’ managements have used judgment to assess of the results of the dispute and litigation and have recorded full allowance for impairment of the land and assets located on that land for conservative purposes, but the management believes that no loss will result from the litigation. Therefore no contingent liabilities are recorded as at the balance sheet date. However, actual results could differ from the estimates.
Investment in jointly controlled entity

On 24 September 2008, the Company purchased additional shares of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Co., Ltd. (“TCRSS”). As a result, the Company holds 50.15 percent of the registered share capital of TCRSS. As a result of such additional investment, the Company entered into the Joint Venture Agreement with the Japanese shareholders, in which it is stipulated that the Company and the Japanese shareholders jointly control TCRSS. The Company therefore presented this investment as investment in jointly controlled entity and applied the equity accounting method for jointly centrolled entity in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has jointly controlled TCRSS since 24 September 2008 (share purchase date) but the Company’s management estimate that the assets and liabilities of TCRSS as at 24 September 2008 and 30 September 2008 are not materially different. In addition, the share of income/loss attributable to the Company’s interest in TCRSS as from 24 September 2008 to 30 September 2008 is not material to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has therefore assumed that the date of the share acquisition was 30 September 2008 and will recognise share of income/loss in TCRSS as from 1 October 2008. 
In determining the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of TCRSS on the acquisition date, the Company’s management exercise a degree of judgment in establishing fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, using valuation techniques and models which involves certain data, assumptions and estimates. However, actual results could differ from the estimates.
6.
Related party transactions
6.1
Business transactions with related parties


During the years, the Company and its subsidiaries had significant business transactions with related parties. Such transactions, which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial terms and bases agreed upon between the Company and those related parties.

	
	
	Relationship
	Relationship

	
	Nature of business
	31 December 2008
	31 December 2007

	Subsidiary companies
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	Deep-sea port service 
	Subsidiary company
	Subsidiary company

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited


	Maintenance service
	Subsidiary company
	Subsidiary company

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	Producer of cold rolled coils
	Jointly controlled entity
	Shareholding by the Company and common directors with the subsidiary

	Related companies
	
	
	

	Thai Coated Steel Sheet Company Limited
	Producer of electro-galvanized coils
	Shareholding by the Company and common directors
	Shareholding by the Company and common directors

	Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
	Producer of round steel bars and deformed steel bars
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	Producer of processing steel products
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	Sahaviriya Plate Mill Public Company Limited (formerly known as Sahaviriya Plate Mill Company Limited)
	Producer of hot rolled coil plates
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	Prapawit Building Property Company Limited
	Lessor of office building space
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s directors(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s directors(s)

	Western Housing Company Limited
	Room rental services
	Common directors and aggregate direct shareholding by the Company’s directors(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct shareholding by the Company’s directors(s)

	Sahaviriya Steel Group Company Limited
	Internet, hotline and other services 
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	C.A.R. Services Company Limited
	Transport services
	The aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	The aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	* Previously classified as related company and classified as jointly controlled entity as from 30 September 2008

	
	
	
	

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	Trader of metal products
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s directors(s)

	Line Transport Company Limited
	Transport services-short distance
	Common directors with the subsidiary and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors with the subsidiary and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	B.P. Wire Rod Company Limited
	Producer of wire rod
	The aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company director(s)
	The aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company director(s)

	Bangpakong Lighter Company Limited
	Marine transport services
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	Bangpakong Port Company Limited
	Transport services-short distance
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Common directors and aggregate direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	Bangsaphan Transport Company Limited
	Transport services
	Direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)
	Direct and indirect shareholding by the Company’s director(s)

	Prachuap S.M.O. Company Limited
	Producer of C-Channel 
	The aggregate indirect shareholding by the Company director(s)
	The aggregate indirect shareholding by the  Company director(s)


	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated            financial statements
	Separate                    financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Transactions with related parties
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from sales
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary company 

(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements) 
	
	
	
	

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	7.1
	0.9

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited*
	219.3
	-
	219.3
	-

	Related Companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	1,667.5
	2,320.6
	1,667.5
	2,320.6

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	4,759.4
	3,656.8
	4,759.4
	3,656.8

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	7,449.4
	7,549.0
	7,449.4
	7,549.0

	Sahaviriya Plate Mill Public Company Limited


(formerly known as Sahaviriya Plate Mill Company Limited)
	-
	133.4
	-
	132.8

	   
	14,095.6
	13,659.8
	14,102.7
	13,660.1

	Revenue from rendering of services
	
	
	
	

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited*
	14.0
	-
	-
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	50.5
	74.0
	-
	-

	Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
	10.8
	4.3
	-
	-

	Line Transport Company Limited
	7.2
	8.6
	-
	-

	Thai Coated Steel Sheet Company Limited
	1.5
	2.2
	-
	-

	Other related companies
	3.9
	4.5
	-
	-

	
	87.9
	93.6
	-
	-

	Other income
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries

(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements) 
	
	
	
	

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	0.9
	0.5

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	-
	-
	0.9
	-

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited*
	2.9
	-
	2.9
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	4.3
	4.3
	4.3
	4.3

	Thai Coated Steel Sheet Company Limited
	7.5
	7.5
	7.5
	7.5

	Other related companies
	3.6
	0.8
	3.0
	0.2

	
	18.3
	12.6
	19.5
	12.5

	* Previously classified as related company and classified as jointly controlled entity as from 30 September 2008

	Purchases of goods and services 
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries

(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements) 
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	-
	-
	99.6
	71.2

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	271.8
	297.5

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Line Transport Company Limited
	69.4
	108.5
	69.4
	108.5

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	4.0
	5.5
	4.0
	5.5

	Other related companies
	1.2
	2.3
	1.1
	2.0

	
	74.6
	116.3
	445.9
	484.7

	Purchases of raw materials
	
	
	
	

	Related companies 
	
	
	
	

	Sahaviriya Plate Mill Public Company Limited 


(formerly known as Sahaviriya Plate Mill Company Limited)
	11.9
	59.1
	-
	59.1

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	159.5
	-
	159.5
	-

	B.P. Wire Rod Company Limited
	225.1
	-
	225.1
	-

	
	396.5
	59.1
	384.6
	59.1

	Selling and administrative expenses
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary company 


(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements) 
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	-
	-
	1.5
	4.1

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Prapawit Building Property Company Limited 
	14.1
	13.8
	12.3
	11.9

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	5.0
	27.4
	5.0
	27.4

	Line Transport Company Limited
	31.6
	48.6
	31.1
	48.4

	Bangpakong Lighter Company Limited
	113.3
	135.6
	113.3
	135.6

	C.A.R. Services Company Limited
	56.0
	77.8
	56.0
	77.8

	Other related companies
	5.9
	3.8
	5.6
	3.2

	
	225.9
	307.0
	224.8
	308.4



Business transactions and pricing policies are summarised as follows.

	Transactions with the Company and  subsidiary companies
	Pricing policy

	Revenue from sales 

	· Same prices as those charged to third parties, dependent on purchasing volume and relevant marketing considerations.

	Other income

	· Sales of scrap material are priced based on scrap weight and the prices set by the Company. 

	Purchases of goods and services 

	· The fees charged by the subsidiary for the production of parts and spare parts are based on prices, as charged to normal customers under terms and conditions normally applicable to transaction of  similar nature. 

· Maintenance-related services are charged based on the long-term maintenance service agreements. The term of the agreement can be modified according to business circumstances. 

· Port services rendered are charged based on the rate determined by the Ministry of Transportation, dependent on service volume and relevant marketing considerations.

	Selling and administrative expenses

	· Port services rendered are charged based on the rate determined by the Ministry of Transportation, dependent on service volume and relevant marketing considerations.


	Transactions with related companies
	Pricing policy

	Revenue from sales 


	· Same prices as those charged to third parties, dependent on purchasing volume and relevant marketing considerations.

	Revenue from rendering of services

	· Port services rendered are charged based on the rate determined by the Ministry of Transportation, dependent on service volume and relevant marketing considerations.

· Charges for rendering of services and maintenance-related services are based on the agreement.

	Other income



	· Sales of scrap material are priced based on scrap weight and the prices set by the Company.

· Revenue from providing management staff to related companies was charged at mutually agreed prices.

	Purchase of goods and services

	· Transportation charges are based on the transportation agreement and cargo weight and distance.

· Rental of warehouse is charged based on the rental agreement.

· Cut sheet services are charged based on agreement.

· Rental charges for staff accommodation are fixed on an annual basis and agreed with the lessor. 

	Purchase of raw material
	· At an agreed price

	Selling and administrative expenses
	· Domestic transportation services are charged based on the transportation agreement and cargo weight and distance.

· Office rental is charged based on the rental agreement.

· Rental charges for staff accommodation are fixed on an annual basis and agreed with the lessor.

· Commission expense is charged based on agreement.


As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, the balances of the accounts between the Company and those related parties are as follows:

	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated              financial statements
	Separate

financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Trade accounts and notes receivable
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary company
	
	
	
	

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	217,337
	-

	Total trade accounts and notes receivable - subsidiary company
	-
	-
	217,337
	-

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	5,656,826
	-
	-
	-

	Total trade accounts and notes receivable - jointly controlled entity
	5,656,826
	-
	-
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	-
	57,412,694
	-
	46,865,111

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	2,526,507,440
	1,625,825,527
	2,526,482,990
	1,625,702,509

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	645,253,327
	1,000,933,388
	645,253,327
	1,000,933,388

	Other related companies
	1,844,063
	4,602,570
	-
	-

	Total trade accounts and notes receivable - related companies
	3,173,604,830
	2,688,774,179
	3,171,736,317
	2,673,501,008

	Trade accounts and notes receivable - related parties
	3,179,261,656
	2,688,774,179
	3,171,953,654
	2,673,501,008

	
	
	
	
	

	* Previously classified as related company and classified as jointly controlled entity as from 30 September 2008


The uncertainty of the current economic situation could adversely affect the debtor’s ability to make payment in the future. 

	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated              financial statements
	Separate

financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Amounts due from and advances paid to related parties
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	-
	-
	140,731
	28,382

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	782,392
	3,336,186

	Total amounts due from and advances paid to subsidiaries
	-
	-
	923,123
	3,364,568

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	520,282
	-
	520,282
	-

	Total amounts due from and advances paid to jointly controlled entity
	520,282
	-
	520,282
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	-
	2,703,561
	-
	2,703,561

	Other related companies
	761,234
	1,607,242
	615,162
	1,421,620

	Total amounts due from and advances paid to related companies
	761,234
	4,310,803
	615,162
	4,125,181

	Amounts due from and advances paid to related parties
	1,281,516
	4,310,803
	2,058,567
	7,489,749

	
	
	
	
	

	Accrued income from related parties
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	-
	-
	310,568
	-

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	556,202
	398,395

	Total accrued income from subsidiaries
	-
	-
	866,770
	398,395

	Jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited *
	721,649
	-
	217,633
	-

	Total accrued income from jointly controlled entity
	721,649
	-
	217,633
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Thai Coated Steel Sheet Company Limited
	6,004,781
	5,650,190
	6,004,781
	5,650,190

	Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
	161,572
	274,822
	161,572
	274,822

	Other related companies
	259,703
	3,140,627
	259,703
	1,230,886

	Total accrued income from related companies
	6,426,056
	9,065,639
	6,426,056
	7,155,898

	Accrued income from related parties
	7,147,705
	9,065,639
	7,510,459
	7,554,293

	
	
	
	
	

	* Previously classified as related company and classified as jointly controlled entity as from 30 September 2008

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts payable
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited 
	-
	-
	15,196,034
	-

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	5,977,218
	4,919,639

	Total trade accounts payable - subsidiaries
	-
	-
	21,173,252
	4,919,639

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Line Transport Company Limited
	9,245,457
	1,195,053
	9,245,457
	1,195,053

	Bangpakong Lighter Company Limited
	-
	7,568,636
	-
	7,568,636

	C.A.R. Services Company Limited
	800,461
	611,850
	800,461
	611,850

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	221,379
	421,774
	221,379
	421,774

	Bangsaphan Transport Company Limited
	250
	250
	250
	250

	Total trade accounts payable - related companies
	10,267,547
	9,797,563
	10,267,547
	9,797,563

	Trade accounts payable - related parties
	10,267,547
	9,797,563
	31,440,799
	14,717,202

	
	
	
	
	

	Amounts due to and advances received from related parties
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiries
	
	
	
	

	Prachuap Port Company Limited 
	-
	-
	-
	10,886,274

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited
	-
	-
	17,288,427
	10,082,144

	Total amounts due to and advances received from subsidiaries
	-
	-
	17,288,427
	20,968,418

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	Bangsaphan Transport Company Limited
	40,039
	799,231
	40,039
	799,231

	Line Transport Company Limited
	263,281
	10,096,084
	214,275
	10,068,264

	Bangpakong Lighter Company Limited
	-
	13,537,422
	-
	13,537,422

	C.A.R. Services Company Limited
	2,308,605
	8,266,567
	2,308,605
	8,266,567

	Sahaviriya Panich International Company Limited
	744,187
	5,186,961
	744,187
	5,186,961

	Bangpakong Port Company Limited
	-
	977,845
	-
	977,845

	B.S. Metal Company Limited
	638,893
	350,279
	638,893
	350,279

	Prapawit Building Property Company limited
	982,731
	246,409
	962,765
	218,412

	Other related companies
	227,092
	99,571
	208,492
	43,815

	Total amounts due to and advances received from related companies
	5,204,828
	39,560,369
	5,117,256
	39,448,796

	Amounts due to and advances received from related parties 
	5,204,828
	39,560,369
	22,405,683
	60,417,214

	


6.2
Directors and management’s remuneration

In 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries paid salaries, meeting allowances and gratuities to their directors and management totaling Baht 58.2 million (the Company only: Baht 48.8 million) (2007: Baht 56.6 million (the Company only: Baht 47.3 million)).
7.
Trade accounts and notes receivable

The balances of trade accounts receivable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007, aged on the basis of due dates, are summarised below: 

	 (Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Age of receivables
	
	
	
	

	Related parties
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	544,915,235
	2,653,132,742
	539,721,169
	2,643,899,937

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	1,482,525,199
	35,641,437
	1,480,411,263
	29,601,071

	3 - 6 months
	1,151,821,222
	-
	1,151,821,222
	-

	Total
	3,179,261,656
	2,688,774,179
	3,171,953,654
	2,673,501,008

	Other companies
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	207,547,520
	44,902,078
	191,635,804
	37,586,190

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	4,488,523
	386,778,172
	-
	379,491,256

	Over 12 months
	283,808,960
	283,808,960
	283,808,960
	283,808,960

	Total
	495,845,003
	715,489,210
	475,444,764
	700,886,406

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	(283,808,960)
	(283,808,960)
	(283,808,960)
	(283,808,960)

	Total
	212,036,043
	431,680,250
	191,635,804
	417,077,446

	Trade accounts and notes receivable - net
	3,391,297,699
	3,120,454,429
	3,363,589,458
	3,090,578,454


8.
Inventories


Details of inventories as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	Allowance of diminution in value of inventory
	

	
	Cost
	Reduction cost to net realisable value
	Stock obsolescence
	Inventory-net

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Finished goods
	5,502,641,036
	3,181,195,528
	(2,192,171,159)
	(23,485,976)
	-
	-
	3,310,469,877
	3,157,709,552

	Work in process
	26,380,459
	6,389,255
	-
	-
	-
	-
	26,380,459
	6,389,255

	Raw materials
	9,376,799,035
	3,556,927,738
	(3,071,022,930)
	-
	-
	-
	6,305,776,105
	3,556,927,738

	Goods in transit
	879,921,170
	804,227,036
	(177,752,689)
	-
	-
	-
	702,168,481
	804,227,036

	Spare parts and factory supplies
	1,259,359,203
	1,521,826,755
	-
	-
	(154,423,844)
	(218,488,493)
	1,104,935,359
	1,303,338,262

	Total
	17,045,100,903
	9,070,566,312
	(5,440,946,778)
	(23,485,976)
	(154,423,844)
	(218,488,493)
	11,449,730,281
	8,828,591,843


	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	Allowance of diminution in value of inventory
	

	
	Cost
	Reduction cost to net realisable value
	Stock obsolescence
	Inventory-net

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Finished goods
	5,518,307,024
	3,197,202,827
	(2,192,171,159)
	(23,485,976)
	-
	-
	3,326,135,865
	3,173,716,851

	Work in process
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Raw materials
	9,392,080,605
	3,564,991,973
	(3,071,022,930)
	-
	-
	-
	6,321,057,675
	3,564,991,973

	Goods in transit
	879,921,170
	804,227,036
	(177,752,689)
	-
	-
	-
	702,168,481
	804,227,036

	Spare parts and factory supplies
	1,257,748,196
	1,520,174,253
	-
	-
	(154,423,844)
	(218,488,493)
	1,103,324,352
	1,301,685,760

	Total
	17,048,056,995
	9,086,596,089
	(5,440,946,778)
	(23,485,976)
	(154,423,844)
	(218,488,493)
	11,452,686,373
	8,844,621,620



The Company has pledged all finished goods and raw materials to secure short-term and long-term loans from financial institutions as described in Note 15 and 16 to the financial statements.

9.
Investments in subsidiaries

Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in separate financial statements as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	Companies
	Paid-up capital
	Shareholding percentage
	Cost
	Dividend received during the year

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	Million Baht
	Million Baht
	Percentage
	Percentage
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht

	Prachuap Port Company Limited
	400.0
	400.0
	51.00
	51.00
	204,000,000
	204,000,000
	-
	-

	West Coast Engineering Company Limited 
	75.0
	75.0
	99.99
	99.99
	74,999,930
	74,999,930
	-
	-

	Total investments in subsidiary companies
	
	
	
	
	278,999,930
	278,999,930
	-
	-


10.
Investment in jointly controlled entity

10.1
Detail of investment in jointly controlled entity as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statement

	
	
	Shareholding
	
	Carrying amounts based

	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	percentage
	Cost
	on equity method - net

	
	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	percent
	percent
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited  (31 December 2007: classified as other investment)
	Producer and distributor of cold rolled coils
	50.15
	-
	5,440,922,025
	-
	4,179,440,824
	-

	Total investment in jointly controlled entity
	
	
	5,440,922,025
	-
	4,179,440,824
	-


	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Nature of
	Shareholding
	
	Allowance for impairment
	Carrying amounts based 

	Company’s name
	business
	percentage
	Cost
	of investment
	on cost method - net

	
	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	percent
	percent
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited  (31 December 2007: classified as other investment)
	Producer and distributor of cold rolled coils
	50.15
	-
	5,440,922,025
	-
	(938,125,000)
	-
	4,502,797,025
	-

	Total investment in jointly controlled entity
	5,440,922,025
	-
	(938,125,000)
	-
	4,502,797,025
	-


Acquisition of shares of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited (TCRSS) from Japanese shareholders


On 5 April 2007, the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 3/2550 and on 26 June 2007 an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2550 passed resolutions to approve the Company’s purchase of a total of 335,790,500 shares in Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited (comprising 214,525,510 ordinary shares and 121,264,990 preferred shares) under a total budget of not more than USD 95 million (equivalent to Baht 3,500 million) from its Japanese shareholders. This was in accordance with the Agreement on Option to Purchase Shares of TCRSS, whereby a related company has the right to purchase the shares from the Japanese shareholders. In addition, an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting approved the Company’s provision of collateral to secure credit facilities and its assumption of responsibility for liabilities of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited, in proportion to the shareholding of the Company.


On 26 February 2008, such related company transferred the right to purchase such shares to the Company. Consequently, on 6 March 2008, the Company, the related company, Japanese shareholders and Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited entered into a joint venture agreement, which becomes effective when the Company is able to meet the conditions stipulated, such as the Company’s obtaining credit facilities for Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited, together with collateral to secure those credit facilities.


On 24 September 2008, the Company was able to fulfill the conditions stipulated in the joint venture agreement, and the Company therefore purchased 335,790,500 convertible preferred shares from the Japanese shareholders, paying USD 0.296 per share, plus direct costs incurred in relation to the share acquisition, or equal to Baht 3,454.4 million. After the acquisition, the Company converted 214,520,510 convertible preferred shares to 214,520,510 ordinary shares. As a result the Company holds 415,537,850 ordinary shares and 121,264,990 convertible preference shares, which is equal to 50.15 percent of the registered share capital. (1 preferrence share of TCRSS grant 1 vote, which is equal to the voting right of the ordinary shareholder).

 
As a result of such additional investment, the Company entered into the Joint Venture Agreement with the Japanese shareholders, in which it is stipulated that the Company and the Japanese shareholders jointly control TCRSS. The Company therefore presented this investment as investment in jointly controlled entity and applied the equity accounting method for jointly centrolled entity in the consolidated financial statements. 


As a result of this additional investment, the Company has jointly controlled TCRSS since 24 September 2008 (share purchase date), and the Company’s management assess that the assets and liabilities of TCRSS as at 24 September 2008 and 30 September 2008 are not materially different. In addition, the share of income/loss attributable to the Company’s interest in TCRSS as from 24 September 2008 to 30 September 2008 is not material to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has therefore assumed that the date of the share acquisition was 30 September 2008 and would recognise share of income/loss in TCRSS as from 1 October 2008. 
10.2
Share of loss 


During the year, the Company recognised its share of net loss from investments in the jointly controlled entity in the consolidated financial statements in the separate financial statements as follows:
	 (Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	Jointly controlled entity
	Share of loss from investments in jointly controlled entity                   during the year
	Dividend received 

during the year

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	
	
	

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited
	323,356,201
	-
	-
	-

	Total
	323,356,201
	-
	-
	-


10.3
Summarised financial information of jointly controlled entities

The Company’s proportionate shares of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Public Company Limited, according to proportion of investment, is as follows:

	    (Unit: Million Baht)

	
	As at

31 December 2008

	Current assets
	1,534

	Non-current assets
	6,111

	
	7,645

	Current liabilities
	1,944

	Non-current liabilities
	1,522

	
	3,466

	Net assets
	4,179

	
	


	      (Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the period from the date of gaining joint control to
31 December 2008

	Revenue
	2,325

	Cost of sales
	(2,397)

	Selling and administrative expenses
	(58)

	Other expenses
	(142)

	Income before finance cost
	(272)

	Finance cost
	(51)

	Net loss
	(323)


Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited mortgaged most of its land, buildings and machinery with the local financial institutions as collateral to secure the short-term loans and long-term loans from financial institutions.

11.
Other long-term investments

Details of other long-term investments as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	
	
	Consolidated / Separate financial statements

	
	
	Shareholding
	
	Allowance for impairment
	Carrying amount

	Companies
	Nature of business
	percentage
	Cost
	of investments
	based on cost method - net

	
	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	Percent
	Percent
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht
	Baht

	Other investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Thai Coated Steel Sheet Company Limited  
	Producer and distributor of electro-galvanized coils
	3.70
	3.70
	293,999,500
	293,999,500
	(293,999,500)
	(293,999,500)
	-
	-

	Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited 

(31 December 2008: classified as investment in jointly controlled entity)
	Producer and distributor of cold rolled colls
	-
	18.78
	-
	1,986,539,435
	-
	(376,503,554)
	-
	1,610,035,881

	
	
	
	
	293,999,500
	2,280,538,935
	(293,999,500)
	(670,503,054)
	-
	1,610,035,881


Acquisition of shares of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited from minority shareholders
On 3 December 2007, the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 7/2550 passed a resolution to approve the Company’s purchase of a total of 116,250,000 ordinary shares in Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited (10.86 percent equity interest) under a total budget of not more than Baht 1,200 million from the minority shareholders. Subsequently on 21 December 2007 the Company purchased 107,199,840 shares in accordance with the resolution of the Board at Baht 9.78 per share, for a total of Baht 1,048.4 million. As at 31 December 2007, the Company’s interest in the equity of Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited has increased from 8.77 percent to 18.78 percent. 

12.
Property, plant and equipment
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Revaluation basis
	Cost basis
	Total

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads
	Berth and berth facilities, and tug boats
	Land improvement
	Leasehold and leasehold improvement
	Tools and  other equipment
	Furniture, fixture and office equipment
	Motor vehicles
	Assets under construction / installation
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost / Revalued amount
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	1,273,153,936
	3,112,395,779
	24,478,068,437
	181,114,841
	2,859,470,701
	190,992,662
	15,641,717
	306,891,852
	165,188,567
	77,466,276
	101,988,137
	32,762,372,905

	Additions
	-
	175,000
	14,116,252
	-
	-
	-
	-
	6,015,677
	6,256,646
	4,557,434
	72,396,936
	103,517,945

	Disposals/written-off
	-
	(6,196,686)
	(80,336)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(1,734,491)
	(5,892,617)
	(9,155,344)
	(880,000)
	(23,939,474)

	Transferred in (out)
	-
	4,078,672
	251,258,440
	11,872,287
	-
	327,766
	-
	84,836,426
	3,325,228
	660,000
	(122,082,688)
	234,276,131

	31 December 2008
	1,273,153,936
	3,110,452,765
	24,743,362,793
	192,987,128
	2,859,470,701
	191,320,428
	15,641,717
	396,009,464
	168,877,824
	73,528,366
	51,422,385
	33,076,227,507

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	-
	1,522,567,476
	6,653,130,567
	109,467,965
	891,247,951
	115,424,324
	15,407,117
	210,774,462
	111,657,254
	51,484,479
	-
	9,681,161,595

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	161,434,716
	425,659,090
	12,751,140
	105,351,791
	24,295,293
	67,037
	35,924,865
	21,436,564
	9,872,148
	-
	796,792,644

	Accumulated depreciation for disposals/written-off
	-
	(2,135,154)
	(80,334)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(1,551,768)
	(5,683,832)
	(7,007,892)
	-
	(16,458,980)

	Transferred in (out)
	-
	(10,096)
	(3,441)
	1,015,142
	-
	(1,008,189)
	-
	2,819
	3,765
	-
	-
	-

	31 December 2008
	-
	1,681,856,942
	7,078,705,882
	123,234,247
	996,599,742
	138,711,428
	15,474,154
	245,150,378
	127,413,751
	54,348,735
	-
	10,461,495,259

	Allowance for impairment loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	300,706,368
	5
	2,448,167
	35,283,266
	1
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	338,437,807

	Increase during the year
	10,304,546
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	10,304,546

	Decrease during the year
	(299,412)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(299,412)

	Transferred in 
	-
	-
	86,565,812
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	86,565,812

	31 December 2008
	310,711,502
	5
	89,013,979
	35,283,266
	1
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	435,008,753

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	972,447,568
	1,589,828,298
	17,822,489,703
	36,363,610
	1,968,222,749
	75,568,338
	234,600
	96,117,390
	53,531,313
	25,981,797
	101,988,137
	22,742,773,503

	31 December 2008
	962,442,434
	1,428,595,818
	17,575,642,932
	34,469,615
	1,862,870,958
	52,609,000
	167,563
	150,859,086
	41,464,073
	19,179,631
	51,422,385
	22,179,723,495

	Depreciation for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2007 (535 Baht million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses)
	546,582,677

	2008 (504 Baht million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses)
	558,752,771


	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Revaluation basis
	Cost basis

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads
	Land improvement
	Leasehold and leasehold improvement
	Tools and   other equipment
	Furniture, fixture and office equipment
	Motor vehicles
	Assets under construction / installation
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost / Revalued amount
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	798,138,502
	2,923,522,406
	24,279,818,357
	65,814,640
	176,605,133
	15,641,717
	250,434,525
	137,945,460
	48,602,656
	84,130,792
	28,780,654,188

	Additions
	-
	-
	14,092,853
	-
	-
	-
	2,289,292
	5,402,813
	2,774,256
	41,725,545
	66,284,759

	Disposals/written-off
	-
	(6,196,686)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(908,471)
	(5,719,796)
	(6,375,344)
	(880,000)
	(20,080,297)

	Transferred in (out)
	-
	4,073,688
	256,468,567
	11,248,000
	1,475,000
	-
	39,078,158
	2,931,840
	-
	(80,999,121)
	234,276,132

	31 December 2008
	798,138,502
	2,921,399,408
	24,550,379,777
	77,062,640
	178,080,133
	15,641,717
	290,893,504
	140,560,317
	45,001,568
	43,977,216
	29,061,134,782

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	-
	1,483,210,710
	6,542,518,357
	50,014,640
	105,446,829
	15,407,117
	173,574,000
	90,990,109
	31,903,642
	-
	8,493,065,404

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	153,196,072
	400,182,971
	9,245,394
	23,032,208
	67,037
	19,179,180
	19,109,610
	7,209,966
	-
	631,222,438

	Accumulated depreciation for disposals/written-off
	-
	(2,135,154)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(821,705)
	(5,513,666)
	(5,081,641)
	-
	(13,552,166)

	31 December 2008
	-
	1,634,271,628
	6,942,701,328
	59,260,034
	128,479,037
	15,474,154
	191,931,475
	104,586,053
	34,031,967
	-
	9,110,735,676

	Allowance for impairment loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	113,138,934
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	113,138,934

	Increase during the year
	10,304,546
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	10,304,546

	Decrease during the year
	(299,412)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(299,412)

	Transferred in 
	-
	-
	86,565,812
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	86,565,812

	31 December 2008
	123,144,068
	-
	86,565,812
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	209,709,880

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2007
	684,999,568
	1,440,311,696
	17,737,300,000
	15,800,000
	71,158,304
	234,600
	76,860,525
	46,955,351
	16,699,014
	84,130,792
	20,174,449,850

	31 December 2008
	674,994,434
	1,287,127,780
	17,521,112,637
	17,802,606
	49,601,096
	167,563
	98,962,029
	35,974,264
	10,969,601
	43,977,216
	19,740,689,226

	Depreciation for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2007 (414 Baht million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses)
	422,303,839

	2008 (403 Baht million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in selling and administrative expenses)
	429,546,624



In December 2007, the Company and its subsidiaries arranged for an independent professional valuer to reappraise the value of land, buildings and building improvement, machinery and equipment in production/service line, roads, berth and berth facilities, and tug boats for the third time and recorded the assets at the new revaluation amounts. The basis of the revaluations was as follows:

-
Land was revalued by an independent professional valuer using the market approach.

-
Buildings and building improvement, machinery and equipment in production/service line, roads, berth and berth facilities, and tug boats were revalued by an independent professional valuer using the depreciated replacement cost approach.


The results of revaluation by independent appraisers are presented below:

	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads 
	Berth and berth facilities, and tug boats
	Total

	New revaluation 
	972,447,568
	1,589,828,298
	17,822,489,703
	36,363,610
	1,968,222,749
	22,389,351,928

	Net book value of assets on revaluation date
	1,031,246,759
	1,243,862,120
	15,309,001,809
	43,701,140
	1,730,578,481
	19,358,390,309

	Increase (decrease)
	(58,799,191)
	345,966,178
	2,513,487,894
	(7,337,530)
	237,644,268
	3,030,961,619

	The Company and its subsidiaries recorded the increase and decrease in the revalued assets in 2007 as follows:

	Adjustment of increase (decrease) in value against of revaluation surplus on assets in shareholders’ equity
	9,188,185
	345,966,178
	2,521,975,632
	(3,221,085)
	237,644,268
	3,111,553,178

	Diminution in value recorded as expenses in income statement
	(67,987,376)
	-
	(8,487,738)
	(4,116,445)
	-
	(80,591,559)

	Increase (decrease)
	(58,799,191)
	345,966,178
	2,513,487,894
	(7,337,530)
	237,644,268
	3,030,961,619


	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statement

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads 
	Total

	New revaluation 
	684,999,568
	1,440,311,696
	17,737,300,000
	15,800,000
	19,878,411,264

	Net book value of assets on     revaluation date
	678,410,462
	1,120,343,327
	15,245,417,170
	11,559,641
	17,055,730,600

	Increase 
	6,589,106
	319,968,369
	2,491,882,830
	4,240,359
	2,822,680,664

	The Company recorded the increase and decrease in the revalued assets in 2007 as follows:

	Adjustment of increase in value against of revaluation surplus on assets in shareholders’ equity
	6,589,106
	319,968,369
	2,500,370,568
	4,240,359
	2,831,168,402

	Diminution in value recorded as expenses in income statement
	-
	-
	(8,487,738)
	-
	(8,487,738)

	Increase 
	6,589,106
	319,968,369
	2,491,882,830
	4,240,359
	2,822,680,664



Breakdown of property, plant and equipment carried on the revaluation basis and their accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2008

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads
	Berth and berth facilities, and tug boats

	Original cost - net allowance for impairment loss
	1,015,270,442
	1,975,499,538
	15,629,050,608
	131,615,197
	2,057,552,879

	Surplus from revaluation
	(52,828,008)
	1,134,953,222
	9,025,298,206
	26,088,665
	801,917,821

	Revalued amount
	962,442,434
	3,110,452,760
	24,654,348,814
	157,703,862
	2,859,470,700

	Accumulated depreciation on original cost - net allowance for impairment loss
	-
	971,841,701
	4,361,793,005
	97,702,176
	619,464,946

	Accumulated depreciation on surplus from revaluation
	-
	710,015,241
	2,716,912,877
	25,532,071
	377,134,796

	Accumulated depreciation on revalued amount
	-
	1,681,856,942
	7,078,705,882
	123,234,247
	996,599,742


	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2007

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads
	Berth and berth facilities, and tug boats

	Original cost - net allowance for impairment loss
	1,025,275,576
	1,974,715,867
	15,450,301,544
	119,742,910
	2,057,552,880

	Surplus from revaluation
	(52,828,008)
	1,137,679,907
	9,025,318,726
	26,088,665
	801,917,821

	Revalued amount
	972,447,568
	3,112,395,774
	24,475,620,270
	145,831,575
	2,859,470,701

	Accumulated depreciation on original cost - net allowance for impairment loss
	-
	868,703,868
	4,084,455,605
	87,491,745
	543,228,211

	Accumulated depreciation on surplus from revaluation
	-
	653,863,608
	2,568,674,962
	21,976,220
	348,019,740

	Accumulated depreciation on revalued amount
	-
	1,522,567,476
	6,653,130,567
	109,467,965
	891,247,951


	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statement

	
	2008
	2007

	
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads 
	Land
	Building and building improvement
	Machinery and equipment in production line
	Roads 

	Original cost- net allowance for impairment loss
	664,503,067
	1,818,032,882
	15,474,381,965
	49,322,646
	674,508,200
	1,817,429,194
	15,290,386,357
	38,074,646

	Surplus from revaluation
	10,491,367
	1,103,366,526
	8,989,432,000
	27,739,994
	10,491,368
	1,106,093,212
	8,989,432,000
	27,739,994

	Revalued amount
	674,994,434
	2,921,399,408
	24,463,813,965
	77,062,640
	684,999,568
	2,923,522,406
	24,279,818,357
	65,814,640

	Accumulated depreciation on original cost - net allowance for impairment loss
	-
	931,673,867
	4,245,098,535
	34,995,144
	-
	834,935,987
	3,988,125,055
	28,934,135

	Accumulated depreciation on surplus from revaluation
	-
	702,597,761
	2,697,602,793
	24,264,890
	-
	648,274,723
	2,554,393,302
	21,080,505

	Accumulated depreciation on revalued amount
	-
	1,634,271,628
	6,942,701,328
	59,260,034
	-
	1,483,210,710
	6,542,518,357
	50,014,640



The Company and its subsidiaries evaluated the recoverable amounts of assets by using the discounted cash flow method and have determined that the recoverable amounts are higher than the appraisal values of assets presented on a depreciated replacement cost basis.


In October 2006, the Federation of Accounting Professions issued Notification No. 25/2006 allowing entities which carry their property, plant and equipment at revalued amounts to calculate depreciation to be charged to the income statements based on the historical costs of the assets instead of on the revalued amounts. The Company has decided to follow the notification. However, had the depreciation charge been calculated based on the revalued amounts, net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been changed to the following:

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements 

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	(Restated)
	
	(Restated)

	   Net income (loss) (Baht) 
	(5,391,305,679)
	647,337,634
	(5,088,802,739)
	745,702,283

	   Earnings (loss) per share (Baht)
	(0.41)
	0.05
	(0.39)
	0.06


As at 31 December 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries have certain plant and equipment items have been fully depreciated but are still in use. The original cost of those assets amounted to approximately Baht 496.1 million (2007: Baht 424.1 million) (The Company only: Baht 299.9 million (2007: Baht 256.2 million)).

As at 31 December 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries have machinery, equipment and motor vehicles acquired under hire purchase and finance lease agreements, with net book values (at historical cost) amounting to Baht 589.8 million (the Company only: Baht 522.8 million).

As at 31 December 2008, the Company had mortgaged/pledged 97 percent of its land, buildings, machinery and equipment (based on net book values) to secure bank overdrafts, short-term loans from financial institutions and long-term loans, as described in Note 15 and Note 16 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2008, Prachuap Port Company Limited, the subsidiary, had mortgaged 84 percent of its land and berth (based on net book values), to secure short-term loan, long-term loans and bank guarantees as described in Note 15, Note 16 and Note 28.1 (d) to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2008, West Coast Engineering Company Limited, the subsidiary, had mortgaged all land and construction thereon to secure bank overdrafts, short-term loans, long-term loans and other bank credit facilities as described in Note 15 and Note 16 to the financial statements.

As described in Note 28.1 (e) 1), on October 2007, the Company and a subsidiary (Prachuap Port Company Limited) received letters from Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan Branch, ordering the Company to submit the Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for 23 plots of land with a combined book value of Baht 113.1 million and the subsidiary to submit the Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for 18 plots of land with a combined book value of Baht 187.6 million, there are roads to the port and warehouse of the subsidiary, which have a net book value of Baht 37.7 million, located on these plots of land for investigation, to corroborate a decision on whether to revoke or amend the issued certificates. Subsequently, on 16 November 2007, the Company and the subsidiary submitted letters to the Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office to oppose any revocation or amendment of such certificate. However, for conservative purposes, in preparing the financial statements in 2007 the Company and the subsidiary recorded full allowance for impairment of the land and assets located on that land in their accounts. On 6 August 2008, the Company received a letter from Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan Branch notifying that the process to revoke the certificate issued for a plot of land with a book value of Baht 0.3 million has been cancelled. The Company had made allowance for impairment loss on this land in 2007, and the Company therefore reversed the allowance for impairment of Baht 0.3 million in the income statement of this year.

On 29 July 2008, the Company received a letter from Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan Branch, ordering it to submit Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for two additional plots of land with a combined book value of Baht 10.3 million for investigation, to corroborate a decision on whether to revoke or amend the issued certificates. Consequently on 25 August 2008, the Company submitted a letter to the Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office to oppose any revocation or amendment of such certificate. However, for conservative proposes, in preparing the financial statements the Company recorded full allowance for impairment of these two certificates in the second quarter’s income statement of this year.

13.
Intangible assets
Details of intangible assets which are software as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Cost
	78,364,352
	76,159,653
	77,519,080
	75,314,381

	Acquisitions during the year – at cost    
	3,121,005
	2,204,700
	3,074,505
	2,204,700

	Accumulated amortisation
	(25,473,795)
	(17,486,270)
	(25,112,356)
	(17,211,441)

	Net book value 
	56,011,562
	60,878,083
	55,481,229
	60,307,640

	Amortisation expenses included in the income statements for the year
	7,987,525
	7,740,138
	7,900,915
	7,655,611


14.
Other non-current assets

Details of other non-current assets as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated
financial statements
	Separate
financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Deposits
	9,270,105
	9,091,700
	8,386,404
	8,175,600

	Others non-current assets
	3,723,932
	3,723,932
	-
	-

	Total
	12,994,037
	12,815,632
	8,386,404
	8,175,600


15.
Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions

Details of bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions as at              31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Bank overdrafts
	6,516,245
	28,616,916
	-
	-

	Short-term loans from financial institutions
	
	
	

	Promissory note
	2,340,000,000
	2,844,000,000
	2,250,000,000
	2,780,000,000

	Trust receipts
	11,976,076,662
	1,373,573,576
	11,976,076,662
	1,364,000,000

	Total
	14,322,592,907
	4,246,190,492
	14,226,076,662
	4,144,000,000


Bank overdrafts and short-term loans of the Company are secured by the pledge of raw materials and finished goods owned by the Company, and for those banks providing both short-term and long-term loans the Company has additionally made a second mortgage of land and construction thereon and machinery of the Company and assigned beneficiary rights under insurance policies to the lenders.


The bank overdraft and short-term loan of West Coast Engineering Company Limited, the subsidiary, from a commercial bank are secured by the mortgage of land and the bank overdrafts and short-term loan from another commercial bank are secured by mortgage of land and construction thereon and the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies to the lender.


Short-term loans of Prachuap Port Company Limited, the subsidiary, are secured by the mortgage of certain land of the subsidiary and construction and/or future construction thereon.


As at 31 December 2008, the bank overdraft and short-term loan facilities of the Company which have not yet been drawn down amounted to Baht 3,769.8 million (2007: Baht 21,279.4 million and USD 45 million).


As at 31 December 2008, the bank overdraft and short-term loan facilities of Prachuap Port Company Limited, the subsidiary, which have not yet been drawn down amounted to Baht 40.0 million (2007: Baht 11.6 million).


As at 31 December 2008, the bank overdraft and short-term loan facilities of West Coast Engineering Company Limited, the subsidiary, which have not yet been drawn amounted to Baht 43.9 million (2007: Baht 0.8 million and USD 0.6 million).

16.
Long-term loans from financial institutions
	
	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	Loan
	Repayment schedule
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	31 December 2008
	31 December 2007
	31 December 2008
	31 December 2007

	16.1
	Semi-annual installment commencing from March 2005 to September 2013
	4,592,000,000
	4,928,000,000
	4,592,000,000
	4,928,000,000

	16.2
	Semi-annual installment commencing from September 2005 to September 2013
	800,000,000
	880,000,000
	800,000,000
	880,000,000

	16.3
	Semi-annual installment commencing from September 2009 to September 2015
	3,300,000,000
	-
	3,300,000,000
	-

	16.4
	Monthly installment commencing from January 2006 to September 2012
	481,604,053
	521,111,278
	-
	-

	16.5
	Quarterly installment commencing from         June 2007 to March 2012
	85,350,000
	118,100,000
	-
	-

	16.6
	Yearly installments commencing from           March 2007 to March 2008
	-
	25,000,000
	-
	-

	16.7
	Quarterly installments commencing from              June 2007 to March 2011
	20,452,500
	32,270,000
	-
	-

	16.8
	Quarterly installments commencing from            September 2008 to June 2011
	21,000,000
	-
	-
	-

	Total
	9,300,406,553
	6,504,481,278
	8,692,000,000
	5,808,000,000

	Less: Current portion due within one year 
	(1,424,034,567)
	(568,619,918)
	(1,308,400,000)
	(416,000,000)

	Long-term loans, net of current portion due within one year
	7,876,371,986
	5,935,861,360
	7,383,600,000
	5,392,000,000


16.1
A long-term credit facility amounting to Baht 5,600 million under the credit facilities agreement dated 15 September 2003, with a 10-year maturity, carrying interest at the rate of MLR less 1.5 percent per annum for the first to the third year, at the rate of MLR less 1 percent per annum for the fourth to the fifth year, and at the rate of MLR less 0.5 percent per annum as from the sixth year. Interest is payable quarterly and the interest rate for the first five years (until September 2008) must not less than the average interest rate on the debentures (Note 17) plus a margin of 0.75 percent per annum.

16.2 
A long-term credit facility amounting to Baht 1,000 million under the credit facilities agreement dated 11 September 2003, with a term of 10 years, bearing interest at the rate of 4 percent per annum from the agreement date to 30 September 2008 and at the rate of MLR less 0.5 percent per annum as from 1 October 2008. Interest is payable quarterly.

Long-term loans No. 16.1 and 16.2 are secured by the mortgage/pledge of land with construction thereon and machinery and the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies to the lenders. For those banks providing both short-term and long-term loan facilities, the Company has additionally made a second pledge of raw materials and finished goods of the Company. These loan agreements contain certain covenants relating to various matters, such as maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, the minimum maintenance of the Company’s shareholding in Prachuap Port Company Limited, restrictions on dividend payment in each fiscal year, and a prohibition on the Company and the subsidiaries pledging their investments in shares or creating any obligation thereon. 
As at 31 December 2008, the Company’s debt service coverage ratios did not comply with the rate specified in the loan agreements. However, the Company received waiver letters from the lenders, whereby the banks consented to allow the Company to maintain such financial ratio at a rate below that specified in the loan agreements, for the period ended 31 December 2008. As at the balance sheet date, the Company has therefore classified the loans as long-term loans and current portion of long-term loans in accordance with the original payment schedule stipulated in the loan agreements.

16.3 This is the loan which the Company obtained from a commercial bank under an agreement dated 16 September 2008, granting new credit facilities amounting to Baht 3,300 million to use for investment in Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited, with a 7-year term maturity. This loan is repayment on semi-annual basis for 13 installments (Baht 200 million to Baht 310 million per installment) commencing from September 2009, carrying interest at the rate of MLR less 1.5 percent per annum for the first to the second year, at the rate of MLR less 1 percent per annum for the third to the forth year, and at the rate of MLR less 0.5 percent per annum as from the fifth year.


This loan is secured by the mortgage/pledge of land with construction thereon and machinery and the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies to the lenders. These loan agreements contain certain covenants relating to various matters, such as maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, the maintenance of the Company’s shareholding in Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited and Prachuap Port Company Limited at the rate stipulated in the agreement and restrictions on dividend payment in each fiscal year. 


As at 31 December 2008, the Company’s debt service coverage ratio did not comply with the rate specified in the loan agreements. However, the Company received waiver letter from the lender, whereby the bank consented to allow the Company to maintain such financial ratio at a rate below that specified in the loan agreements, for the period ended 31 December 2008. As at the balance sheet date, the Company has therefore classified the loans as long-term loans and current portion of long-term loans in accordance with the original payment schedule stipulated in the loan agreements.

16.4
A long-term credit facility of a subsidiary amounting to Baht 650 million under the loan agreement dated 5 September 2003, and memorandums to amend the agreement dated 7 June 2005, 26 August 2005 and 5 September 2007, with a term of 6 years and a grace period of 2 years and 4 months, bearing interest at the 3-month fixed deposit rate plus 3 percent for the first 2 years, plus 3.5 percent for the third year and plus 4 percent per annum as from the fourth year. Interest is payable monthly. On 29 July 2008, the subsidiary entered into a memorandum to revise the loan agreement with the lender, under which the lender agreed to extend the term of the loan from 7 years and 10 months (66 monthly installments from January 2006 to June 2011) to 9 years and 1 month (81 monthly installments from January 2006 to September 2012) and change the amounts of the loan installments from the 31st installment (July 2008) onwards, from amounts of Baht 7 million to Baht 20 million per installment to amounts of Baht 5 million to Baht 15 million per installment.

This long-term loan is secured by the mortgage of land and related construction thereon and the expansion of the berth of the subsidiary. This loan agreement contains covenants relating to various matters, such as the maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, restrictions on incurring indebtedness and creating or permitting the subsistence of security interest an assets, and the maintenance of present shareholders. 

16.5 
A long-term credit facility of a subsidiary amounting to Baht 180 million under the credit facilities agreement dated 23 March 2007 with a term of 5 years, carrying interest at MLR less 0.5 percent per annum. Interest is payable quarterly. As of        31 December 2008, the subsidiary has drawn down the full amount of the facility. 


This credit facilities are secured by the mortgage of certain land of the subsidiary and construction and/or future construction thereon. In addition, the loan agreements contain covenants relating to various matters such as the maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, the restrictions on incurring indebtedness and creating or permitting the subsistence of security interest, the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies for the construction and the maintenance of the Company’s equity in the subsidiary. 

16.6 
A long-term credit facility of a subsidiary amounting to Baht 45 million under a loan agreement dated 21 March 2005 with a 3-year maturity and a 1-year grace period, carrying interest at MLR less 1 percent per annum in the first year and MLR less 0.5 percent per annum as from the second year. Interest is payable monthly.


This loan is secured by the mortgage of a plot of land and construction and/or future construction thereon of the subsidiary and is guaranteed by the Company. 
16.7 
A long-term credit facility of a subsidiary amounting to Baht 60 million under a loan agreement dated 2 October 2006 with a 5-year maturity, carrying interest at MLR less 0.5 percent per annum. Interest is payable monthly.


This loan is secured by the mortgage of a plot of land of the subsidiary and construction thereon and the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies to the lender. In addition, this loan agreement contains certain covenants relating to various matters, such as the maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, the restrictions on incurring indebtedness and creating or permitting the subsistence of security interest, the assignment of beneficiary rights under insurance policies for the construction, and the Company’s maintenance of a shareholding of not less than 75 percent in the subsidiary for the term of the loan agreement.

16.8 
This is the loan which the subsidiary obtained new credit facilities amounting to Baht 75 million from a commercial bank on 23 June 2008, as detailed below.  
a)
A short-term credit facility amounting to Baht 50 million under promissory notes, carrying interest at MOR less 0.5 percent per annum.

b)
A long-term credit facility amounting to Baht 25 million, carry interest at MLR less 0.5 percent per annum. The principal is to be repaid in quarterly installment at amount not less than Baht 2 million per installment as from September 2008 to June 2011.


These new credit facilities are secured by the mortgage of a plot of land of the subsidiary and construction thereon and the assignment of beneficiary rights under the insurance policies for these assets to the lender. In addition, this loan agreement contains certain covenants relating to various matters, such as the maintenance of financial ratios to comply with the agreement, the request for consent from the lender before dividend payment and the Company’s maintenance of a shareholding of not less than 75 percent in the subsidiary for the term of the loan agreement. Up to 31 December 2008, the Company had drawn down the full amount of the long-term credit facility.

17.
Debentures
	
	
	
	
(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
financial statements
	Separate 
financial statements

	
	31 December 2008
	31 December 2007
	31 December 2008
	31 December 2007

	Secured amortising debentures No.1 Series 2 of 1.45 million units with a total value of Baht 1,450 million
	-
	725,000,000
	-
	725,000,000

	Total
	-
	725,000,000
	-
	725,000,000

	Less: Current portion
	-
	(725,000,000)
	-
	(725,000,000)

	Debentures
	-
	-
	-
	-



The debentures were to be redeemed in equal semi-annual installments from                17 September 2008 and mature in March 2008. They carried interest at the average           6 month fixed deposit rate of 4 commercial banks plus 2.75 percent per annum. 

These debentures were secured by the mortgage/pledge of land and its construction thereon, and machinery of the Company. 

During the current year, the Company has fully repaid the debentures, and redeemed the related collaterals.
18.
Liabilities under finance lease agreements

Details of liabilities under finance lease agreements as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are follows:

	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements 
	238,958,088
	432,377,290
	176,812,535
	387,898,641

	Less: Deferred interest expenses  
	(10,582,832)
	(29,157,223)
	(6,042,974)
	(25,236,188)

	Total 
	228,375,256
	403,220,067
	170,769,561
	362,662,453

	Less : Portion due within one year 
	(198,213,010)
	(206,460,621)
	(170,769,561)
	(191,892,892)

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements  - net of current portion
	30,162,246
	196,759,446
	-
	170,769,561



The Company and its subsidiary companies have entered into the finance lease agreements with leasing companies for lease of machinery, equipment and vehicle for operation and committed to pay rental fee on a monthly basis. The terms of the agreements, which are non-cancellable, are generally between 3 and 4 years.
 
As at 31 December 2008, future minimum lease payments required under the finance lease agreements were as follows:

	 (Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Less than

1 year
	1-5 years
	Total

	Future minimum lease payments
	207,311,478
	31,646,610
	238,958,088

	Deferred interest expenses
	(9,098,468)
	(1,484,364)
	(10,582,832)

	Present value of future minimum lease payments 
	198,213,010
	30,162,246
	228,375,256


	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Less than

1 year
	1-5 years
	Total

	Future minimum lease payments
	176,812,535
	-
	176,812,535

	Deferred interest expenses
	(6,042,974)
	-
	(6,042,974)

	Present value of future minimum lease payments 
	170,769,561
	-
	170,769,561


19.
Revaluation surplus

This represents surplus arising from revaluation of property, plant and equipment. The surplus is amortised to retained earnings on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the related assets. The movement balance of revaluation surplus during the years are as the follows:
	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Balance - beginning of year
	7,761,254,462
	4,954,891,951
	7,480,117,228
	4,830,282,180

	Add :
Record revaluation surplus on assets
	-
	2,996,355,310
	-
	2,831,168,402

	Less :
Reversal revaluation surplus
	-
	(650,899)
	-
	-

	
Amortisation 
	(225,101,131)
	(189,341,900)
	(203,443,600)
	(181,333,354)

	
Reversal of revaluation surplus on assets as a result of business combination
	(561,621,446)
	-
	(561,621,446)
	-

	Balance - end of year
	6,974,531,885
	7,761,254,462
	6,715,052,182
	7,480,117,228



The revaluation surplus can neither be offset against deficit nor used for dividend payment. 


The revaluation surplus as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 in the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements are consisted of the following:
	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Revaluation surplus of 
	
	
	
	

	The Company
	6,715,052,182
	6,918,495,782
	6,715,052,182
	6,918,495,782

	The subsidiaries
	259,479,703
	281,137,234
	-
	-

	Other company  

(former associated company)
	-
	561,621,446
	-
	561,621,446

	
	6,974,531,885
	7,761,254,462
	6,715,052,182
	7,480,117,228


20.
Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside to a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

21.
Corporate income tax
 
Corporate income tax for the years has been calculated on net income of the operations which have not received privileges from the Board of Investment exempting them from corporate income tax, after adding back expenses and deducting income which are disallowable for tax computation purposes.

22.
Promotional privileges
 
The Company was granted investment promotional privileges by the Board of Investment (BOI). Important privileges granted to the Company are summarised below:
-
Investment promotion certificate No. 1140/2533 dated 8 August 1990 under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges for the manufacture of hot rolled coils. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 8 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income (23 April 1994) and a 50 percent reduction of corporate income tax on net income derived from the promoted activities for a period of 5 years after the expiration of the corporate income tax exemption period (22 April 2002). The privileges granting on this certificate expired on 22 April 2007.

-
Investment promotion certificate No. 1438(2)/2547, dated 8 June 2004, under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges for the manufacture of hot rolled coils and hot rolled pickled and oiled coils. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on sales of hot rolled coils and hot rolled pickled and oiled coils, to the extent that the amount sold does not exceed 1.6 million tons a year, for a period of 8 years commencing as from the date of the first earnings operating income (13 May 2004). In addition, the privileges also include exemption from import duty on machinery approved by the Board, exemption from import duty on essential raw materials and supplies imported for manufacturing products for export sale for a period of 5 years as from the first import date and exemption from import duty on goods imported for re-export for a period of 5 years as from the first import date. 


The Company’s operating revenues for the years are below shown divided according to promoted and non-promoted operations.

	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Promoted operations
	Non-promoted operations
	Total

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Sales
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Domestic sales
	25,132,957,647
	23,326,002,694
	27,996,426
	201,598,155
	25,160,954,073
	23,527,600,849

	Export sales
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837
	-
	-
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837

	Total sales
	27,426,915,749
	28,161,590,531
	27,996,426
	201,598,155
	27,454,912,175
	28,363,188,686



The two subsidiaries were granted investment promotional privileges by the Board of Investment (BOI). Important privileges granted to the subsidiaries are summarised below:
(a)
Prachuap Port Company Limited was granted the following investment promotional privileges by the BOI.
-
Investment promotion certificate No. 8002/2537 dated 17 January 1994 under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges for the provision of marine shiping services. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 8 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income (22 February 1994) and a 50 percent reduction of corporate income tax on net income derived from the promoted activities for a period of 5 years after the expiration of the corporate income tax exemption period (21 February 2002). The privileges granting on this certificate expired on 21 February 2007.

-
Investment promotion certificate No. 1484(2)/2545 dated 31 July 2002, under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges for the provision of high-powered tug boat service for public transportations and large products. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 5 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income (1 October 2002) to the extent that the amount of tax exempted does not exceed 100 percent of the total investment made, excluding the price of land and working capital. The amount of corporate income tax exempted thus must not exceed Baht 131 million, and such cap is to be adjusted according to the actual capital investment (excluding land cost and working capital) as of the date operation of the project commences. In addition the privileges also include a reduction of import duty on machinery approved by the BOI. The privileges granting on this certificate expired on 30 September 2007.

-
Investment promotion certificate No. 1464(2)/2547 dated 10 June 2004 under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges for the provision of marine shipping services. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 8 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income (14 November 2006) to the extent that the amount of tax exempted does not exceed 100 percent of the total investment made, excluding the price of land and working capital. The amount of corporate income tax exempted thus must not exceed Bath 1,146 million, and such cap is to be adjusted according to the actual capital investment (excluding land cost and working capital) as of the date operation of the project commences. In addition the privileges also include an exemption from import duty on machinery approved by the BOI.

-
Investment promotion certificate No. 1901(2)/2547 dated 29 October 2004 under which the Board of Investment approved promotional privileges the provision of high-powered tug boat service. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 5 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income (9 August 2005) to the extent that the amount of tax exempted does not exceed 100 percent of the total investment made, excluding the price of land and working capital. The amount of corporate income tax exempted thus must not exceed Bath 103 million, and such cap is to be adjusted according to the actual capital investment (excluding land cost and working capital) as of the date operation of the project commences. In addition the privileges also include a reduction of import duty on machinery approved by the BOI.

(b)
West Coast Engineering Company Limited has received promotional privileges from the Board of Investment, which approved promotion privileges for the manufacture of industrial machinery and equipment, mechanical parts, and the repair and improvement of industrial machinery and equipment and steel structures for industrial use, pursuant to the promotion certificate No. 1783(2)/2550 dated 27 June 2007. Subject to certain imposed condition, the privileges include an exemption from corporate income tax on net income from the promoted activities, for a period of 8 years commencing as from the date of the first earning operating income, to the extent that the amount of tax exempted does not exceed 100 percent of the total investment made, excluding the price of land and working capital. The total amount of corporate income tax exempted thus must not exceed Baht 167 million, and such cap is to be adjusted according to the actual capital investment (excluding land cost and working capital) as of the date operation of the project commences. In addition the privileges also include exemption from import duty on machinery approved by the BOI, and exemption from import duty on essential raw materials imported for a period of 5 years as from the first import date. Currently, the Company has no income from the promoted activities.

 
The operating revenues of the Company and its subsidiaries for the years are below shown divided according to promoted and non-promoted operations.

	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Promoted operations
	Non-promoted operations
	Total

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Revenue
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Domestic sales
	25,125,882,274
	23,325,070,614
	28,242,366
	202,291,882
	25,154,124,640
	23,527,362,496

	Export sales
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837
	-
	-
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837

	Service income
	74,690,655
	109,685,762
	234,084,623
	171,282,048
	308,775,278
	280,967,810

	Total revenue
	27,494,531,031
	28,270,344,213
	262,326,989
	373,573,930
	27,756,858,020
	28,643,918,143


23.
Expenses by nature

Significant expenses for the years by nature are as follow:

	
	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	Salary and wages and other employee benefits
	591,595,621
	594,391,450
	423,716,640
	428,060,654

	Depreciation and amortisation
	566,740,297
	554,322,815
	437,447,539
	429,959,450

	Fuel and electricity charge
	437,244,534
	480,685,285
	427,683,196
	472,465,948

	Transportation expenses
	364,424,000
	511,958,405
	363,371,296
	511,226,661

	Repair and maintenance of plant machinery and equipment
	234,453,642
	266,044,854
	229,755,800
	259,482,430

	Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment
	10,005,134
	338,437,806
	10,005,134
	113,138,934

	Rental expenses
	31,473,773
	29,843,633
	27,117,647
	25,514,923

	Raw materials and consumables used
	26,579,283,196
	20,080,265,732
	26,491,712,670
	20,010,672,494

	Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
	(2,341,436,712)
	4,322,173,316
	(2,321,104,197)
	4,321,109,752


24.
Basic earnings (loss) per share
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

25.
Segment information 

The Company and its subsidiaries’ business operations involve three principal segments: (1) manufacture of hot rolled coils (2) maintenance services and (3) deep-sea port services. These operations are mainly carried on in Thailand. Below is the consolidated financial information for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 of the Company and its subsidiaries by segment. 

	
	(Unit: Baht)

	
	Manufacture of hot rolled coils segment
	Maintenance services segment
	Deep-sea port services segment
	Elimination of inter-segment revenues
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007
	2008
	2007

	
	
	(Restated)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Restated)

	Revenue from external customer
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Domestic sales and services
	25,153,878,700
	23,526,668,769
	153,973,446
	132,533,436
	155,047,772
	149,128,101
	-
	-
	25,462,899,918
	23,808,330,306

	Export sales
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	2,293,958,102
	4,835,587,837

	Total
	27,447,836,802
	28,362,256,606
	153,973,446
	132,533,436
	155,047,772
	149,128,101
	-
	-
	27,756,858,020
	28,643,918,143

	Intersegment revenues
	7,075,373
	982,080
	271,872,450
	297,478,904
	101,085,306
	75,762,394
	(380,033,129)
	(374,173,378)
	-
	-

	Total revenues
	27,454,912,175
	28,363,188,686
	425,845,896
	430,012,340
	256,133,078
	224,890,495
	(380,033,129)
	(374,173,378)
	27,756,858,020
	28,643,918,143

	Segment income
	1,938,780,356
	2,420,419,415
	68,660,303
	90,867,110
	143,213,527
	108,252,663
	
	
	2,145,857,748
	2,657,721,373

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	137,412,543
	319,611,847

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(407,234,927)
	(575,876,309)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(522,531,198)
	(313,507,716)

	Other expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(5,449,967,100)
	(287,664,507)

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(711,357,448)
	(1,067,876,364)

	Share of loss of jointly controlled entity
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(323,356,201)
	-

	Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(10,157,768)
	(9,134,088)

	Minority interest
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(24,870,197)
	113,405,298

	Net income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(5,166,204,548)
	836,679,534

	Property, plant and equipment
	19,740,689,226
	20,174,449,850 
	312,932,343
	327,083,644 
	2,174,851,081
	2,293,184,537 
	(48,749,155)
	(51,944,528)
	22,179,723,495
	22,742,773,503

	Other assets
	20,141,995,252
	14,024,182,683 
	91,567,063
	55,624,964 
	47,248,803
	29,282,725 
	(674,196,778)
	(332,722,479)
	19,606,614,340
	13,776,367,893

	Total assets
	39,882,684,478
	34,198,632,533 
	404,499,406
	382,708,608 
	2,222,099,884
	2,322,467,262 
	(722,945,933)
	(384,667,007)
	41,786,337,835
	36,519,141,396


 
Transfer prices between business segments are as set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

26.
Provident fund

The Company, its subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. Both employees and the Company and its subsidiaries contributed to the fund monthly at the rate of 5 to 10 percent of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited, will be paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the fund rules. During the year 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries contributed Baht 32.8 million (2007: Baht 31.0 million) to the fund (The Company only: Baht 23.8 million (2007: Baht 22.6 million)).

27.
Dividend payment

On 29 April 2008, the Annual General Meeting of the Company’ shareholders passed a resolution to approve the payment of a dividend for the year 2007 of Baht 0.05 per share, or a total of Baht 654.8 million. 


On 10 April 2007, the Annual General Meeting of the Company’ shareholders passed a resolution to approve the payment of a dividend for the year 2006 of Baht 0.025 per share, or a total of Baht 327.5 million. 
28.
Commitments and contingent liabilities

28.1
Commitments and contingent liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries

a)
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2008, the Company had capital commitments totaling approximately Baht 0.3 million and EUR 0.2 million in respect of agreements relating to the construction of a warehouse for finished goods and the purchase of machinery and equipment.

As at 31 December 2008, West Coast Engineering Company Limited, the subsidiary, had capital commitments totaling Baht 0.5 million in relation to construction agreements and the purchase of machinery.

b)
Operating lease commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into several lease agreements in respect of the lease of land, office space and vehicles. The terms of the agreements are generally between 1 and 5 years.
As at 31 December 2008, future minimum lease payments required under these non-cancellable operating leases contracts were as follow.

	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated            financial statements
	Separate               financial statements

	Payable within:
	
	

	1 year
	17.4
	15.8

	2 - 5 years
	7.5
	7.5

	Total
	24.9
	23.3


c)
Other commitments


1)
As at 31 December 2008, the Company has commitments amounting to Baht 53.0 million, USD 5.0 million and EUR 1.4 million in relation to agreements to purchase spare parts and supplies and to obtain maintenance services.

2)
As at 31 December 2008, the Company had commitments to banks under outstanding letters of credit amounting to approximately USD 0.7 million and Baht 1.2 million.

3)
As at 31 December 2008, West Coast Engineering Company Limited, the subsidiary, has commitments amounting to Baht 2.5 million in relation to a contracting agreement and related service agreements.

4)
As at 31 December 2008, Prachuap Port Company Limited, the subsidiary, has commitments amounting to Baht 0.9 million in relation to an agreement appointing a party to perform an environmental impact study and a marine survey for the construction of a ship berth.

d)
Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2008, there were outstanding bank guarantees of Baht 1,587.3 million (The Company only: Baht 1,566.7 million) issued by banks on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries in respect of certain performance bonds as required in the normal course of business. 

1)
Bank guarantees of the Company of Baht 1,566.7 million mainly comprised a bank guarantee of Baht 1,458.2 million to guarantee payment to the Revenue Department, to secure a value added tax refund before the examination process is complete. In the second quarter of 2007 the Revenue Department refunded Baht 1,458.2 million to the Company and is in the process of conducting an examination of such tax. The amount also included bank guarantees of Baht 104.5 million to guarantee electricity use, Baht 3.9 million as a guarantee for loss as a result of the legal action being taken by the Forestry Department regarding a project to construct a road to the berth, and other guarantee amounting to Baht 0.1 million. 

2)
The bank guarantees of the subsidiaries amounting to Baht 20.6 million, comprised a guarantee of Baht 11 million provided to the Customs Department in respect of the establishment of a wharf and godowns, Baht 8.4 million to guarantee contractual performance and Baht 1.2 million to guarantee electricity use.

e)
Dispute and litigation


Dispute

1) In October 2007, Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan branch sent letters to the Company and Prachuap Port Company Limited ordering the Company to submit the Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for 23 plots of land with a combined book value of Baht 113.1 million and the subsidiary to submit the Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for 18 plots of land with a combined book value of Baht 187.6 million, (there are roads to the port and warehouse of the subsidiary, which have a net book value of Baht 37.7 million, located on these plots of land) for investigation to corroborate a decision on whether to revoke or amend the issued certificates. Subsequently, on 16 November 2007, the Company and the subsidiary submitted letters to the Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan branch opposing any revocation or amendment of such certificates since the land had legal documentation issued by government officials. However, for conservative purposes, in preparation of the financial statements the Company and the subsidiary recorded full allowance for impairment of the land and assets located on that land in the income statement of 2007. On 6 August 2008, the Company received a letter from Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan Branch notifying it that the process revoke the certificate issued for a plot of land with a book value of Baht 0.3 million has been cancelled.

In addition on 29 July 2008, the Company received a letter from Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office, Bangsaphan Branch, ordering it to submit Certificates of Utilisation (Nor. Sor. 3 Kor) for two additional plots of land with a combined book value of 10.3 million for investigation, to corroborate a decision on whether to revoke or amend the issued certificates. Consequently on 25 August 2008, the Company submitted a letter to the Prachuabkirikhan Provincial Land Office opposing any revocation or amendment of such certificates. However, for conservative proposes, in preparing the financial statements the Company recorded full allowance for impairment of these two certificates in the second quarter’s income statement of this year.

The management of the Company and the subsidiary believe that, regardless of the result of the dispute, it will not affect the business operations of the Company and its subsidiary. 

Litigation

1)
The Company was sued by the Forestry Department in a civil case regarding a project to construct a road to the berth, with a total of Baht 4.9 million claimed. Subsequently, on 1 September 2005, the Prachuapkhirikhan Provincial Court ordered the Company to pay compensation of Baht 2 million plus interest at a rate of 7.5 percent per annum as from the date the lawsuit was lodged by the Forestry Department. The case is currently pending in the Appeal Court. On 14 July 2006, the Company placed a bank guarantee of Baht 3.9 million with the Appeal Court to suspend the execution of the judgement for the term of the appeal. As at 31 December 2008, the Company has not provided for losses that may arise as a result of this case in its financial statements.

2)
In March 2004, the Company was the co-defendant in two civil cases before the Bangkok South Civil Court, involving total claims of Baht 126 million resulting from the incorrect issue of bills of lading by forwarding agents. Subsequently in July 2005, two of the plaintiffs in these cases sued the Company in the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court, which has jurisdiction in the cases. Claims made totalled approximately Baht 80 million. In December 2005, the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court combined the two cases because they pertain to the same dispute. The cases are currently pending in the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court. As at 31 December 2008, the Company has not provided for losses that may arise as a result of these cases in its financial statements.

28.2
Commitments and contingent liabilities of the jointly controlled entity (Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited) which the Company has 50.15 percent equity interest.

a)
Capital commitments 

As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had capital commitments in respect of procurement agreements for parts of production machinery made with various companies of USD 0.7 million, YEN 695.2 million, EUR 0.1 million and Baht 95.8 million, in which the delivery is scheduled during January 2008 until August 2011.

b)
Operating lease commitments  

As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had commitments in respect of long-term lease and service agreements payable in the future amounting to approximately Baht 45.7 million.

c)
Long-term service commitments 

As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had commitments under service agreement for repair and maintenance of utility system for a period of 12 years ending 31 December 2013. The service fee payable in the future under the agreement was approximately Baht 19.1 million.

d)
Long-term purchase commitments 

As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had commitments under production chemical purchase agreement for a period of 15 years ending 24 February 2012. Under the agreement, the jointly controlled entity is committed to purchase chemical at a minimum of 120,000 cubic metres, of Baht 3.35 each per month.

e)
Bank guarantees 

As at 31 December 2008, there were outstanding bank guarantees of approximately USD 60.4 million and Baht 85.2 million issued by banks on behalf of the jointly controlled entity in respect of the jointly controlled entity’s borrowings and certain performance bonds as required in the normal course of business of the jointly controlled entity. These included letters of guarantee amounting to USD 60.4 million to guarantee payments of long-term loans, Baht 50.9 to guarantee import duty on import of raw material, and Baht 34.3 million to guarantee electricity usage and others.

29.
Financial instruments

29.1
Financial risk management


Financial instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries, as defined under Thai Accounting Standard No. 48 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”, principally comprise cash and cash equivalent, accounts and notes receivable, amounts due from and advance paid to related parties, other long-term investments, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions, accounts payable, amounts due to and advances received from related parties, long-term loans, debentures and liabilities under financial lease and hire purchase agreements. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.


Credit risk


The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts and notes receivable. The Company and its subsidiaries manage the risk by establishing credit limits for customers or adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures and therefore do not expect to incur material financial losses. However, the Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts and notes receivable because they have only a few major customers who are in the same industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of trade accounts and notes receivable as stated in the balance sheet.


Interest rate risk


The Company and its subsidiaries’ exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to their cash at banks, bank overdrafts and short-term loan from financial institutions, liabilities under finane lease and hire purchase agreements, debentures and long-term borrowings. However, since most of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal. 


Significant financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2008 classified by type of interest rates are summarized in the table below, with those financial assets and liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date or the repricing date if this occurs before the maturity date. 

	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Fixed interest rates
	
	
	
	

	
	Within   1 year
	1-5 years
	Floating interest rate
	Non-interest bearing
	Total
	Effective interest rate

	
	
	(% p.a.)

	Financial Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalent
	-
	-
	46.7
	0.3
	47
	0.125-0.750

	
	-
	-
	46.7
	0.3
	47
	

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions
	14,323
	-
	-
	-
	14,323
	4.200-7.000

	Long-term loans 
	-
	-
	9,300(1)
	-
	9,300
	5.250-7.000

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	198
	30
	-
	-
	228
	4.830-7.800

	Liabilities under hire purchase agreements
	4
	3
	-
	-
	7
	3.050-3.700

	
	14,525
	33
	9,300
	-
	23,858
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(1)
Long-term loan amounting to Baht 800 carried interest rate at a fixed rate in the current period until 30 September 2008 and carries interest at MLR less 0.5 percent per annum beginning 1 October 2008. 



Significant financial assets and liabilities of the jointly controlled entity (Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited) which the Company has 50.15 percent equity interest as at 31 December 2008 classified by type of interest rates are summarized in the table below, with those financial assets and liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date or the repricing date if this occurs before the maturity date. 

	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Fixed interest rates
	
	Non-
	
	

	
	Within   1 year
	1-5 years
	Floating interest rate
	interest bearing
	Total
	Effective interest rate

	
	
	(% p.a.)

	Financial Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalent
	-
	-
	138
	-
	138
	0.01-0.50

	
	-
	-
	138
	-
	138
	

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans
	-
	-
	2,040
	-
	2,040
	4.20-5.90

	Long-term loans 
	359
	-
	3,891
	-
	4,250
	2.45-3.83

	Liabilities under financial lease agreements
	3
	1
	-
	-
	4
	1.17-5.65

	
	362
	1
	5,931
	-
	6,294
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	


 
Foreign currency risk


The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises mainly from trading transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company seeks to reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate. Generally, the forward contracts mature within one year. 


The balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 December 2008 are summarised below. 

	
	
	
	Average exchange rate

	
	
	
	as at 31 December 2008

	Foreign currency
	Financial assets
	Financial liabilities
	Assets
	Liabilities

	
	(Million)
	(Million)
	(Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

	US dollar
	-
	24.8
	-
	35.0824

	Euro
	2.8
	0.05
	48.8809
	49.6515

	Italian Lira
	-
	1.8
	-
	0.0256

	Japanese yen
	-
	0.8
	-
	0.3898



As at 31 December 2008, the Company had no outstanding forward exchange contract.


The balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of the jointly controlled entity (Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited) which the Company has 50.15 percent equity interest as at 31 December 2008 are summarised below. 

	Foreign currency
	Financial liabilities
	Average exchange rate 
as at 31 December 2008

	
	(Million)
	(Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

	US dollar
	128
	35.0824

	Japanese yen
	108
	0.3898



As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had the following outstanding forward exchange contracts of which most of their maturity date are less than one year.
	Notional amount
	Maturity date
	Fixed exchange rate in currency swap agreements

	(Million USD)
	
	(Baht per USD)

	17.8
	January 2009
	34.98-35.11

	7.5
	June 2009
	35.120

	7.5
	December 2009
	34.875



As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had outstanding currency swap agreements for repayment of principal of long-term loans as follows:
	Notional amount
	Maturity date
	Fixed exchange rate in currency swap agreements

	(Million USD)
	
	(Baht per USD)

	18
	December 2009 – 2011
	35.745

	18
	December 2009 – 2011
	35.735

	18
	December 2011 – 2013
	35.740

	18
	December 2011 – 2013
	35.720



As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity had outstanding currency and interest rate swap agreements are follows:
	Notional amount
	Interest rate in the original loan agreements
	Fixed exchange rate in swap agreements
	Fixed interest rate in swap agreements
	Maturity date

	(Million USD)
	(Percent per annum)
	(Baht per USD)
	(Percent per annum)
	

	9
	2.51
	39.57
	3.83
	15 June 2009


29.2
Fair values of financial instruments


A fair value is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value is determined by reference to the market price of the financial instrument or by using an appropriate valuation technique, depending on the nature of the instrument. 


The Company and its subsidiaries establish the fair value of their financial instruments by adopting the following methods and assumptions:

For financial assets and liabilities which have short-term maturities, including cash and cash at banks, accounts and notes receivable, amounts due from and advances paid to related parties, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions, accounts payable and amounts due to and advances received from related parties, the carrying amounts at the balance sheet date are considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 


For non-marketable equity securities, fair value is estimated based on the net asset value of the security.


For debentures and long-term loans carrying interest at rate that approximate the market rate, the carrying amount in the balance sheet approximates their fair value.


For liabilities under finance lease and hire purchase agreements, fair value is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows by the current market interest rate for liabilities with similar terms and conditions.


For derivatives, fair value is the latest market price of financial derivatives with the same characteristics, conditions, and maturity date, as quoted by reliable financial institutions.

 
As at 31 December 2008, the fair value of significant financial instruments are estimated to be close to the carrying amounts in the balance sheet, except for other long-term investment which have a net carrying amount of zero and a fair value of Baht 61.6 million.

As at 31 December 2008, the jointly controlled entity (Thai Cold Rolled Steel Sheet Public Company Limited) which the Company has 50.15 percent equity interest, had derivative which have fair value as follow:

	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Notional amount
	Fair value

	
	
	(Loss)

	Derivatives
	
	

	Currency and interest rate swap agreements
	356
	(44)

	Currency swap agreements
	2,573
	(27)

	Forward exchange contracts
	1,150
	(3)


31.
Capital management


The primary objectives of the Company’s and the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it has an appropriate financial structure and preserves the ability to continue its business as a going concern and to maintain the debt to equity ratio to comply with the long-term loan agreements. 


According to the balance sheet as at 31 December 2008, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio was 1.56:1 (2007: 0.58:1) and the Company’s was 1.55:1 (2007: 0.56:1).
32.
Approval of financial statements


These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s authorized directors on 26 February 2009.
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